IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE

OF CALIFORNIA

TIMOTHY SANDQUIST, Plaintiff and Appellant, SUPREME COURT
FILED

AUG 27 2014

VS.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

LEBO AUTOMOTIVE, INC., et al. Defendants and Respondents.

Deputy

Appeal from the Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles
Case No. BC476523
The Honorable Elihu M. Berle
After Review by the Court of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division Seven
Case No. B244412

DEFENDANTS' AND RESPONDENTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

James J. McDonald, Jr., Bar No. 150605
email: jmcdonald@laborlawyers.com
Grace Y. Horoupian, Bar No. 180337
email: ghoroupian@laborlawyers.com
Jimmie E. Johnson, Bar No. 223344
email: jjohnson@laborlawyers.com

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Second District erroneously determine that arbitrators, not the courts, should determine the scope of their own jurisdiction to hear class claims absent authorizing language in the arbitration agreement?
- 2. Even if the Superior Court erred by determining itself whether the arbitrator had jurisdiction to hear class claims, was that error harmless given that the Superior Court correctly determined that the arbitration agreements did not authorize the arbitrator to hear class claims?

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Court should grant review in order to resolve the issue, which the Second District below concedes is unsettled (*Opn.* at p. 10), of whether a court or an

arbitrator should determine if the arbitrator has jurisdiction to hear class claims when the arbitration agreement is silent on the issue.

In holding that an arbitrator should decide whether to allow class claims in the absence of authorizing language in the arbitration agreement, the Second District below reached a result that is contrary to this Court's decision in *City of Los Angeles v. Superior Court* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 1086. The Second District's decision is also at odds with decisions of the United States Supreme Court (*Stolt-Nielsen S.A. v. Animalfeeds Int'l* (2010) 559 U.S. 662) and the United States Courts of Appeals (*Reed Elsevier, Inc. v. Crockett* (6th Cir. 2013) 734 F.3d 594; *Opalinski v. Robert Half Int'l, Inc.* (3d Cir. July 30, 2014) F.3d ____, 2014 U.S. App. LEXIS 14538).

In City of Los Angeles, this Court held that an arbitrator has no authority to decide whether to hear certain claims unless the arbitration agreement expressly provides otherwise. Nevertheless, the Second District below contrarily held that an arbitrator is exclusively empowered to determine his or her own jurisdiction over class claims absent direction in the underlying arbitration agreement to the contrary. Not only did the Second District publish a decision that directly contradicts City of Los Angeles, it did so without even addressing that precedent in its analysis. Should this Court choose not to review the Second District's decision, it should at the very least order the opinion below de-published to avoid the confusion it will cause vis-àvis City of Los Angeles.

Finally, the Second District entirely failed to consider whether any purported error by the Superior Court in making the decision itself regarding the arbitrator's jurisdiction was harmless. Consistent with *Code of Civil Procedure* section 475, this Court held long ago in *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, that an appellate court cannot reverse a trial court order unless the purported error is "prejudicial." This Court further held in *Cassim v. Allstate Insurance Company* (2014) 33 Cal.4th 780, that prejudice cannot be found in the abstract, but requires an examination of

each individual case. The Second District wholly neglected this duty, failing to even consider whether the purported error was harmless. This Court should grant review additionally to reinforce the requirement that appellate courts *must* conduct a harmless error analysis before reversing any trial court order, especially in the context of motions to compel arbitration.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Parties

Respondent MBT employed Appellant as a sales manager from September 2000 until Appellant's voluntary resignation on January 7, 2011. 1 JA 52-80.

As alleged in the operative First Amended Complaint ("FAC"), Respondent MBT is located in Manhattan Beach, California, engaged in the sale and repair of Japanese-manufactured automobiles. Respondent Darrel Sperber is the General Manager of Respondent MBT, and was Appellant's immediate supervisor. John Elway, Mitchell Pierce and Jerry Williams were corporate shareholders of Respondent MBT.

B. The Parties' Arbitration Agreements

At the beginning of Appellant's employment, the parties expressly agreed to resolve any employment-related dispute through arbitration. In pertinent part, the arbitration agreement read:

I also acknowledge that the Company utilizes a system of alternative dispute resolution which involves binding arbitration to resolve all disputes which may arise out of the employment context. ... I and the Company both agree that any claim, dispute, and/or controversy ... which would otherwise require or allow resort to any court or other governmental dispute resolution forum between myself and the Company (or its owners, directors, officers, managers, employees, agents, and parties affiliated with its employee benefit and health plans) arising from, related to, or having any relationship or connection whatsoever with my seeking employment with, employment by, or other association with the Company, whether based on tort, contract, statutory, or equitable law, or otherwise, (with the sole exception of claims arising under the National Labor Relations Act which are brought before the National Labor Relations Board, claims for medical

and disability benefits under the California Workers' Compensation Act, and Employment Development Department claims) shall be submitted to and determined exclusively by binding arbitration. Resolution of the dispute shall be based solely upon the law governing the claims and defenses pleaded, and the arbitrator may not invoke any basis (including but not limited to, notions of "just cause") other than such controlling law.

1 JA 195. That same day, Appellant signed two additional arbitration agreements with Respondents containing similar language. 1 JA 197-198, 200-201.

C. Procedural History

Appellant filed his FAC in the Superior Court on February 1, 2012. 1 JA 52-107. The FAC asserts causes of action for (1) discrimination and harassment in violation of the Fair Employment and Housing Act, (2) violation of *Business and Professions Code* section 17200, and (3) common law constructive discharge. 1 JA 52-80. On March 12, 2012, Respondents filed a motion in the Superior Court to compel individual arbitration of all claims in the FAC, and to stay or dismiss proceedings in the Superior Court. 1 JA 176-177, 179-189. The Superior Court granted Respondents' motion to compel arbitration on August 14, 2012, and it additionally dismissed without prejudice Appellant's class claims "because there's no basis, contractual basis, to compel [class] arbitration." It granted Appellant 60 days to amend his complaint by bringing forth a new class representative who could support the class allegations. *Opn.* at p. 5. On September 28, 2012, Appellant's counsel notified the Superior Court that they could not produce a new class representative who had not signed an arbitration agreement, and on October 5, 2012, the trial court dismissed the class claims with prejudice. *Opn.* at p. 6.

On October 5, 2012, Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal challenging the Superior Court's order. On June 25, 2014, the Second District rendered its opinion. In pertinent part, the Second District determined that the arbitrator, not the Superior Court, should determine his or her own jurisdiction to hear Appellant's class claims. In turn, the Second District reversed and remanded that part of the order prohibiting

Appellant from pursuing class claims in arbitration. *Opn.* at pp. 9-15. On July 22, 2014, the Second District published its opinion.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

T.

THE SECOND DISTRICT FAILS TO ADDRESS THIS COURT'S CONTRADICTORY AND CONTROLLING PRECEDENT IN CITY OF LOS ANGELES

A. The Second District Creates a Presumption that Arbitrators May

Determine Their Own Jurisdiction To Decide Class Claims Absent

Contractual Direction to the Contrary

Appellant signed multiple arbitration agreements with the Respondents which provided "that any claim dispute, and/or controversy...arising from, related to, or having any relationship or connection whatsoever with [Appellant's]... employment by, or other association with the [Respondents]... shall be submitted to and determined exclusively by binding arbitration...." *Opn.* at pp. 2-4. Nowhere do the arbitration agreements provide for arbitration of class claims or state that the arbitrator is empowered to decide whether class claims may be pursued. The parties disputed whether the agreements empowered the arbitrator to hear class claims. *Opn.* at pp. 4-5, 9-16.

In its decision below, the Second District first observed that the text of the arbitration agreements were silent on the issue. *Opn.* at p. 11. The Second District then decided it would purportedly "follow the plurality opinion in [*Green Tree Financial Corp. v. Bazzle* (2003) 539 U.S. 444 ("*Bazzle*")] that the question whether the parties agreed to class arbitration in cases where the arbitration agreement is silent is determined by the arbitrator." *Opn.* at p. 13. Accordingly, pursuant to the Second District's decision, a court must presume that the arbitrator is empowered to

determine his or her own jurisdiction to hear class claims absent language in the arbitration agreement to the contrary.

B. This Court Reached the Opposite Result in City of Los Angeles

Notably, the Second District's opinion fails to address, or even mention, this Court's decision last year in *City of Los Angeles v. Superior Court* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 1086 – a decision that reached the exact opposite result.

In City of Los Angeles, the arbitration agreement authorized the arbitrator to determine "a[ny] dispute concerning the interpretation or application of this written MOU [which included the arbitration agreement]...." 56 Cal.4th at 1093 [emphasis added]. The parties disputed whether the arbitration agreement empowered the arbitrator to hear claims regarding furloughs. Id. at 1091-1092. Despite the contractual language stating that "a[ny] dispute concerning the interpretation or application of this [arbitration agreement]" fell within the authority of the arbitrator, this Court nonetheless held: "Here, because the parties' MOU did not expressly authorize the arbitrator to determine whether particular disputes were subject to arbitration, that determination was for the court to make." Id. at 1093 [emphasis added].

In other words, this Court just last year held that, absent *express authorization* in the arbitration agreement for the arbitrator to determine which types of disputes will be arbitrable, the courts must determine the jurisdiction of arbitrators, not the arbitrators themselves. Moreover, this Court in *City of Los Angeles* maintained that for such express authorization to be found, a party must identify language in the text of the arbitration agreement which expressly states to the effect: "The parties agree that the arbitrator is empowered to determine his or her own scope of authority." Language stating merely "any dispute concerning the interpretation or application of the arbitration agreement," is to be decided by the arbitrator is insufficient. 56 Cal.4th at 1093.

Indeed, the United States Supreme Court has likewise counseled against allowing arbitrators to determine their own jurisdiction because they have an inherent conflict of interest to expand the scope of their powers beyond those actually provided in the arbitration agreement. "The willingness of parties to enter into agreements would be drastically reduced ... if a labor arbitrator had the power to determine his own jurisdiction...." AT&T Technologies v. Communications Workers (1986) 475 U.S. 643, 651 [internal quotes omitted]. "Were this the applicable rule, an arbitrator would not be constrained to resolve only those disputes that the parties have agreed in advance to settle by arbitration, but, instead, would be empowered to impose obligations outside the contract limited only by his understanding and conscience." Ibid. [internal quotes omitted]. Moreover, these innately biased decisions of the arbitrator would not be subject to any judicial review to preserve the legitimacy of the arbitration process. Oxford Health Plans LLC v. Sutter (2013) 569 U.S. _____, 133 S.Ct. 2064, 2068-2071 [decisions by an arbitrator regarding his or her own scope of authority are not subject to judicial review].

Accordingly, not only does the Second District's decision disregard the controlling authority of *City of Los Angeles*, but it also fails to address the concerns raised by the United States Supreme Court about arbitrators' inherent conflict of interest if they are allowed to determine their own jurisdiction.

II.

THE SECOND DISTRICT ALSO DISREGARDED ESTABLISHED CALIFORNIA LAW BASED UPON AN INCORRECT INTERPRETATION OF BAZZLE

A. California Law Has Long Empowered the Courts to Determine the

Authority of Arbitrators to Hear Class Claims

In Garcia v. Direct TV (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 297, Division One of the Second Appellate District was confronted with the same question of whether

arbitrators are empowered to determine their own jurisdiction in relation to hearing class claims. Citing both California Supreme Court and Court of Appeal precedent, the *Garcia* court acknowledged that "California law... vests jurisdiction in our trial courts to determine whether" there is an "absence of a class action waiver" in the underlying arbitration agreement; and if so, whether the arbitrator is empowered to hear a class action. *Id.* at 298. Indeed, in *Keating v. Superior Court* (1982) 31 Cal.3d 584, 613, this Court held: "Whether such an order [to permit the arbitrator to hear a class action in arbitration] would be justified in a case of this sort is a question appropriately left to the discretion of the trial court."

However, misconstruing the plurality opinion in *Bazzle*, as well as its lack of binding effect, the *Garcia* court stated, "...[B]ut no longer. The [United States] Supreme Court has spoken, and the foundational issue – whether a particular arbitration agreement prohibits class arbitrations – must (in FAA cases) henceforth be decided by the arbitrators, not the courts. (*Green Tree Financial Corp. v. Bazzle* [].)" 115 Cal.App.4th at 298 [brackets added]. Accordingly, as the *Garcia* court recognized, California law empowered courts to determine an arbitrator's authority to hear class claims prior to *Bazzle*.

However, the United States Supreme Court has since advised, twice, that the *Bazzle* plurality opinion was in fact not binding authority. *Stolt-Nielsen, supra,* 559 U.S. at 678-680; *Oxford Health, supra,* 133 S.Ct. at 2068, fn 2. In turn, the First Appellate District in *Nelsen v. Legacy Partners Residential, Inc.* (2012) 207 Cal.App.4th 1115, 1129, fn. 6, and Division One of the Fourth Appellate District in *Truly Nolen of America v. San Diego County* (2012) 208 Cal.App.4th 487, 515 fn. 4, have both rightfully rejected *Garcia* for its belief that *Bazzle* was controlling precedent. Finally, as demonstrated below, *Garcia*'s interpretation that the *Bazzle* plurality found "whether a particular arbitration agreement prohibits class arbitrations[] must ... henceforth be decided by the arbitrators," is also erroneous.

B. The Bazzle Plurality Solely Determined that the Strong Presumption

Previously Employed by the United States Supreme Court in Favor of

Courts Determining the Jurisdiction of Arbitrators Was Not

Appropriate on the Question of Whether an Arbitrator Has the

Authority to Hear Class Claims

Similar to *Garcia*, the Second District believes that *Bazzle* found "the question whether the parties agreed to class arbitration in cases where the arbitration agreement is silent is determined by the arbitrator." *Opn.* at p. 13. In fact, *Bazzle* never considered such a global issue. Rather, the *Bazzle* plurality first determined that the question of whether the courts or the arbitrator should determine the arbitrator's jurisdiction to hear class claims is a question of contractual interpretation subject to the rules of the applicable state law. 539 U.S. at 447, 450, 454-455 [J. Stevens concurring]. In other words, courts should first look to the arbitration agreement itself to determine who decides the question.

The arbitration agreement in *Bazzle* read, in pertinent part: "all disputes, claims, or controversies *arising from or relating to this contract* or the relationships which result from this contract" would be subject to arbitration. 539 U.S. at 451 [emphasis added]. The plurality determined that "whether [the arbitration agreement] forbids the use of class arbitration procedures[] is a dispute 'relating to this contract' and the resulting 'relationships." *Ibid.* Thus, based upon this contractual interpretation, the *Bazzle* plurality opined that, "[h]ence the parties seem to have agreed that an arbitrator, not a judge, would answer the relevant question." *Id.* at 451-452. By contrast, the parties to the arbitration agreements at issue here only agreed to arbitrate disputes over Appellant's *employment*, not disputes over the meaning of the arbitration agreements.

Next, the *Bazzle* plurality responded to an argument that its contractual interpretation analysis ran afoul of a rule previously established by the United States

Supreme Court in AT&T Technologies, supra, 475 U.S. at 643. Bazzle, supra, 539 U.S. at 452; see also pp. 456-457 [C.J. Rehnquist dissenting, raising similar argument citing First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan (1995) 514 U.S. 938, 945]. AT&T Technologies held, in pertinent part, that courts shall presume that parties intend for the courts to determine the scope of an arbitrator's jurisdiction in the absence of "clear and unmistakable evidence" within the arbitration agreement to the contrary – a standard the language analyzed by the Bazzle plurality did not satisfy. 475 U.S. at 649. While recognizing the precedential authority of AT&T Technologies, the Bazzle plurality opined that the strong presumption discussed in that case only applied to controversies concerning an arbitrator's authority to hear the type of underlying substantive claim – not an arbitrator's authority to hear those types of substantive claims on a class basis. Bazzle, at 452-453.

In short, the *Bazzle* plurality determined that its contractual analysis did not run afoul of *AT&T Technologies* after finding that the strong presumption established in that case did not apply to controversies over the jurisdiction of an arbitrator to hear class claims. "Given these considerations, along with the arbitration contracts' sweeping language concerning the scope of the questions committed to arbitration, this matter of contract interpretation should be for the arbitrator, not the courts, to decide." *Bazzle*, supra, 539 U.S. at 452-453 [emphasis added]. However, the plurality's opinion that the *AT&T Technologies* strong presumption did not apply to such controversies does not equate into a determination that an equal but opposite presumption exists that arbitrators should determine their own jurisdiction to hear class claims. As discussed below, such a presumption would contradict the well-established rule that arbitration "is a matter of consent, not coercion," and that a party cannot be compelled to submit to arbitration unless that party previously agreed to it. *Volt v. Board of Trustees of Leland Stanford Junior Univ.* (1989) 489 U.S. 468, 479; *Howsam v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc.* (2002) 537 U.S. 79, 83.

III.

VOLT AND STOLT-NIELSEN FORECLOSE ANY PRESUMPTION IN FAVOR OF ARBITRATORS DETERMINING THEIR OWN SCOPE OF AUTHORITY

In *Volt*, a party asked the United States Supreme Court to void certain provisions of an arbitration agreement as purportedly inconsistent with the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"), and inferentially institute alternate provisions that were not a part of the original agreement. 489 U.S. at 468. The Court soundly rejected the suggestion that a court could mandate provisions not contained within the original agreement. "Arbitration under the [FAA] is a matter of consent, not coercion, and parties are generally free to structure their arbitration agreement as they see fit." *Id.* at 479.

Building upon this principle, *Stolt-Nielsen* rejected a proposed presumption that arbitrators had jurisdiction to hear class claims where the arbitration agreement was silent on the issue. 559 U.S. at 662. Again, the Court explained that a party cannot be compelled to submit to arbitration unless there is a contractual basis for concluding that the party agreed to do so. *Id.* at 684. "Nothing in the FAA authorizes a court to compel arbitration of any issues ... that are not already covered in the agreement." *Id.* at 683 [quoting *EEOC v. Waffle House, Inc.* (2002) 534 U.S. 279, 289]. "[A]rbitrators derive their authority to resolve disputes only because the parties have agreed in advance to submit such grievances to arbitration." *Id.* at 682-683 [quoting *AT&T Technologies, supra,* 475 U.S. at 648-649]. "Arbitration is simply a matter of contract *between the parties;* it is a way to resolve those disputes – but only those disputes – that the *parties* have agreed to submit to arbitration. *Id.* at 684 [emphasis in original, quoting *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan* (1995) 514 U.S. 938, 943].

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