In the

Supreme Court

of the

State of California

SUPREME COURT FILED 8.25(b) SEP 1 7 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

TIMOTHY SANDQUIST,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

LEBO AUTOMOTIVE, INC. et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL \cdot SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT \cdot NO. B244412 SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES \cdot HON. ELIHU M. BERLE \cdot NO. BC476523

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

Smuggling such clause construction concerns into the analysis in order to wrest the decision from the arbitrator's purview reflects the kind of hostility and mistrust toward arbitrators repeatedly decried by the U.S. Supreme Court. See generally *Concepcion*, 131 S.Ct. at 1747. Similarly,

¹⁸ See further *Harrison*, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 117154, at *12-14 (holding that Supreme Court's "cautionary note" "regarding the practical differences between bilateral and class arbitration does not alter the outcome": "the parties will not be forced to arbitrate any substantive dispute they did not agree to arbitrate"; "more significantly," *Bazzle* continues to guide the analysis and dictate the result).

courts have expressed great reluctance to expand the category of substantive "arbitrability" questions beyond those identified by the Supreme Court. "Removing an issue from consideration by the arbitrator and assigning it to the courts to address through relatively formal procedures and multi-layered review tends to run counter to" the firmly-established policy in favor of arbitration as a means of "achieving streamlined proceedings and expeditious results." *In re A2P SMS Antitrust Litig.*, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 74062, at *33-34 (collecting cases). Accord, e.g., *Harrison*, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 117154, at *12.

II. The Superior Court's Error in Usurping the Role of the Arbitrator is *Per Se* Prejudicial, Requiring Vacatur

In its final push to disturb the Second District's holding below, Defendants claim that the Superior Court's error was harmless. After strenuously arguing for the first fifteen pages of the Petition that the question of who decides is critical, Defendants abruptly reverse course and argue that the identity of the decision-maker is irrelevant as long as he or she arguably got it right. Tellingly, Defendants fail to cite a single case for the proposition that courts may usurp the role of arbitrators to decide procedural matters without committing reversible error.

Contrary to Defendants' argument, consistent precedent provides that such error is automatically reversible. No courts engage in a secondary analysis of the prejudice stemming from the error; instead, they hold that the mere fact of the court's interference in a decision properly within the arbitrator's jurisdiction requires vacatur.

The U.S. Supreme Court explicitly rejects the analysis Defendants propose. In *Bazzle*, five justices agreed that the accuracy of a decision does not shield that decision from vacatur when made by the wrong decision-maker. The plurality held that it must refrain from interpreting the contract to determine whether it permitted class procedures "not simply because it is

a matter of state law, but also because it is a matter for the arbitrator to decide." *Bazzle*, 539 U.S. at 447. It reached this conclusion notwithstanding the fact that the South Carolina Supreme Court had unanimously held that the contracts were silent and thus authorized class arbitration. The plurality stated that it could not automatically accept the state court's resolution because "the question – whether the agreement forbids class arbitration – is for the arbitrator to decide." *Id.* at 451. Indeed, the plurality found it necessary to remand given "a strong likelihood...that the arbitrator's decision reflected a court's interpretation of the contracts rather than an arbitrator's interpretation." *Id.* at 454.

The U.S. Supreme Court has further emphasized that courts must not usurp the role of an arbitrator based on speculation regarding how the arbitrator might rule. For example, in *PacifiCare Health Systems, Inc. v. Book* (2003) 538 U.S. 401, the court cautioned:

we should not, on the basis of "mere speculation" that an arbitrator might interpret these ambiguous agreements in a manner that casts their enforceability into doubt, take upon ourselves the authority to decide the antecedent question of how the ambiguity is to be resolved. In short, since we do not know how the arbitrator will construe the remedial limitations...the proper course is to compel arbitration.

Id. at 406-07 (citations omitted).

Following the Supreme Court's lead, courts in this state do not review this type of error for prejudice. In *Cable Connection, Inc. v. DirecTV, Inc.* (Cal. 2008) 190 P.3d 586, this Court remanded a clause construction dispute concerning class arbitration to the panel of arbitrators. Notably, it refrained from expressing an opinion on the merits, and it did not direct the question to the trial court. Instead, it made a narrow ruling that the arbitration panel misapplied relevant rules and precedent, and sent the question of how to properly apply those authorities to the arbitration panel without further comment or judicial intervention. *Id.* at 607-08.

Intermediate appellate courts have likewise stressed that a decision must be made in the first instance by the arbitrator, and the possibility of harmless error does not preclude the need to vacate. See *Garcia*, 9 Cal.Rptr.3d at 194-95. *Garcia* flatly rejected the argument that remand was superfluous because it would be subject to review by a court that already analyzed the arbitration clause. Attacking that "imperfect syllogism," the Second District emphatically stated that "the issue must be decided by the arbitrator." *Id.* California appellate courts affirm a trial court's involvement only when neither party timely requests that the court leave the question of class arbitration to the arbitrator. See *Nelsen*, 144 Cal.Rptr.3d at 209; *Truly Nolen*, 145 Cal.Rptr.3d at 452. This case does not fall within that narrow exception.

Federal appeals courts confirm that trial court orders invading the purview of the arbitrator must be vacated regardless of their result. The First and Fifth Circuits have held that district court decisions like that of the Superior Court below must be vacated, notwithstanding their accuracy, because the court was the wrong decision-maker. See *Anderson*, 500 F.3d at 72 (vacating decision of district court analyzing class bar in arbitration agreement, leaving determination to arbitrator in first instance); *Pedcor*, 343 F.3d at 363 (vacating decision of district court certifying class for arbitration proceedings). The Seventh Circuit reached the same conclusion within the context of consolidation. See *Blue Cross Blue Shield*, 671 F.3d at 640 (parties to litigation may not litigate in advance whether arbitrators would exceed their powers if they reached a particular procedural decision, as such anticipatory review would entail an advisory opinion).

In short, there is no support for Defendants' argument that the Second District erred by failing to review the trial court's mistake for prejudice. The argument misses the fundamental point: when the trial court

traverses the authority of the arbitrator, that error is per se prejudicial. 19

III. The Superior Court Reached the Wrong Result in its Clause Construction Analysis

Even assuming that a trial court is generally within its authority to interpret the parties' agreement relative to class procedures and to direct the arbitrator to conduct an individual arbitration, the Superior Court reached the wrong result here. The Superior Court rested its holding that Defendants' arbitration clauses precluded class proceedings on a misreading of the Supreme Court's *Stolt-Nielsen* decision and on two distinguishable California cases. Contrary to the Superior Court's holding, the Acknowledgements at issue here are broad in scope and permit class arbitration. The Superior Court failed to consider the totality of the textual and extrinsic evidence, which unmistakably authorizes class arbitration.

A. The Superior Court Blatantly Misread Stolt-Nielsen

The trial court held that *Stolt-Nielsen* directly prohibited class treatment of Sandquist's claims. It construed *Stolt-Nielsen* to hold that an arbitration clause imposed by an employer on its employees cannot permit class arbitration unless it expressly references "other employees, employee groups or employee members of a putative class." 6 JA 1395-96. This was reversible legal error.

In *Stolt-Nielsen*, the Supreme Court reviewed a district court's order vacating a maritime industry arbitration award involving two commercial entities with equal bargaining power. 559 U.S. at 666-70. One party argued that the arbitrators had disregarded the law and the established custom of bilateral arbitration in the maritime industry by construing the parties' fully-negotiated arbitration agreement as permitting class arbitration. *Id.* at

¹⁹ In any case, under the discussion set forth below, the Superior Court's reading of the contract was fundamentally flawed. At a sheer minimum, the Acknowledgements do not unambiguously preclude class procedures and a reasonable arbitrator could well reach a contrary result.

672-74. The Supreme Court reversed the arbitrators' construction based on a crucial fact that Defendants conveniently omit from their Petition: both parties stipulated that their arbitration agreement was "silent" regarding the availability of class arbitration and that no meeting of the minds occurred on that question. *Id.* at 676. In light of that stipulation, the Supreme Court held that the arbitrators committed legal error by imposing their own bare policy preferences while making no attempt to ascertain the parties' intent or to ground their decision in the language of the parties' agreement, a rule derived from applicable law, or state contract law. *Id.* at 684.

Stolt-Nielsen stands for the proposition that silence on the question of class arbitration, in and of itself, cannot be taken as dispositive evidence of intent to allow class procedures. Id. On the other hand, the lack of explicit contractual language pertaining to class arbitration does not end the analysis: ordinary rules of contract interpretation apply. Stolt-Nielsen is distinguishable because the parties to this dispute have not stipulated that the Acknowledgements are "silent" regarding the availability of class arbitration and that no agreement was reached on the issue. Sandquist has argued at every stage of these proceedings that the Acknowledgements in fact authorize class arbitration. Stolt-Nielsen is therefore unhelpful in construing the Acknowledgements at issue here and certainly does not dictate the result. The Superior Court erred by holding otherwise.

B. The Broad Language of the Acknowledgements Permits Class Arbitration

Clause construction relies on ordinary canons of contract construction. Pursuant to those canons, the best evidence for construing any contract is its text. See *Foster-Gardner*, *Inc.* v. *Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co.* (Cal. 1998) 959 P.2d 265, 272. The Acknowledgements here state:

I also acknowledge that the Company utilizes a system of alternative dispute resolution which involves binding arbitration to resolve all disputes which may arise out of the employment context...[A]ny claim, dispute, and/or controversy...arising from, related to, or having any relationship or connection whatsoever with my seeking employment with, employment by, or other association with the Company, whether based on tort, contract, statutory or equitable law or otherwise...shall be submitted to and determined exclusively by binding arbitration.

1 JA 194-201. This expansive language plainly covers "any claim, dispute, and/or controversy" that an employee might bring — which would include individual or class claims — so long as there is "any relationship or connection whatsoever" to the employment. *Id.* Class claims are disputes that "may arise out of the employment context" because the employer may systematically engage in a pattern or practice of discrimination or other unlawful conduct against a class of employees. See, e.g., *Mork v. Loram Maint. of Way, Inc.* (D.Minn. 2012) 844 F.Supp.2d 950, 955 (no class waiver where the arbitration agreement applies to "claims or disputes of any nature arising out of or relating to the employment relationship").

The Acknowledgements do not exclude class claims. The text of the Acknowledgements also demonstrates that Defendants knew how to exclude particular categories of claims from arbitration. Specifically, Defendants exempted certain claims arising under the National Labor Relations Act and the California Workers' Compensation Act. 1 JA 196-97. Defendants called these "the sole exception" to its expansive language requiring arbitration of "any claim, dispute, and/or controversy." *Id.* The interpretation maxim *expressio unius est exclusio alterius* is instructive here: it provides that when exemptions are specified, other exemptions – such as the class waiver Defendants assert was inherent in the arbitration agreements – may not be implied.

Based on the all-encompassing language in the Arbitration Acknowledgments, and in light of well-entrenched California contract law

principles, the Superior Court should have found that the parties intended to permit, rather than preclude, class arbitration.

C. Extrinsic Evidence Reinforces This Interpretation

In addition to misconstruing the plain language of the Acknowledgements, the Superior Court disregarded extrinsic evidence that bolsters Sandquist's position. After Sandquist filed his class-wide administrative charge, Defendants abandoned the Arbitration Acknowledgments they required their employees to sign for nearly a decade, replacing them with new language containing an express class-action waiver. 1 JA 120. If the trial court's interpretation of the original language was correct, this move would have been unnecessary. Plainly, Defendants replaced the Arbitration Acknowledgments in order to plug a hole in the original language contemplating class arbitration.

D. Nelsen and Kinecta Are Distinguishable

Attempting to defend the Superior Court's clause construction, Defendants rely on two California appellate court decisions that neither apply to this dispute nor bind this Court. First, in *Nelsen v. Legacy Partners Residential, Inc*, the arbitration agreement lacked the expansive language at issue here. For example, it did not state that "the Company utilizes a system of alternative dispute resolution which involves binding arbitration to resolve all disputes which may arise out of the employment context." 1 JA 194-95. Furthermore, *Nelsen* is distinguishable because the record in that case lacked extrinsic evidence bearing on the parties' intent to include or exclude class arbitration. 144 Cal.Rptr.3d at 210. Here, by contrast, Sandquist has produced precisely the sort of evidence the *Nelsen* court sought: "prelitigation conduct contradicting the position the parties are taking on that subject now." *Id*.

The second case Defendants champion is Kinecta Alternative Financial Solutions, Inc. v. Superior Court (Cal. App. 2012) 140

Cal.Rptr.3d 347. There, the court held that an arbitration agreement did not permit class arbitration. The court fixated on repeated bilateral language in the arbitration agreement that does not appear in the Acknowledgements at issue here. *Id.* at 356-57. Furthermore, the *Kinecta* agreement lacked the expansive language of the Acknowledgements quoted above. The Superior Court did not address these differences or how the "implicit ruling in *Kinecta*" applies notwithstanding them. 6 JA 1424. Thus, the trial court erred in relying upon this non-binding, distinguishable holding to read a class-action bar into the Acknowledgements.

CONCLUSION

Neither of the issues raised in the Petition are worthy of review by this Court. First, the prevailing law is clear that the availability of class procedures does not change whether the parties' dispute or particular substantive claims must be arbitrated. Once the Superior Court determined that Sandquist was bound to arbitrate his claims, the question of whether the arbitration clauses permitted class treatment was a procedural one for the arbitrator. The existence of two countervailing federal cases does not warrant intervention by this Court. Second, there is no need for review on the issue of whether the Superior Court's error in diverting this question from the arbitrator was harmless – an issue never raised until the present Petition. There is no conflicting precedent in this area. In any case, there is at least substantial room for an arbitrator to differ with the Superior Court's interpretation of the Arbitration Acknowledgments.

Accordingly, the Court should deny the Petition.